FILED
SID J. WHITE
MAR 11 1992

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By

Chief Deputy Clerk

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

v.

CASE NO. 79,374

TROY CLINTON BENNETT,

Respondent.

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

BRADLEY R. BISCHOFF ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 0714224

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Petitioner was sentenced as a habitual felony offender on May 8, 1990, based on two prior felony convictions, all of which had been entered on the same day (R 182). On appeal, the First District Court of Appeal reversed Petitioner's sentence and certified the following question as one of great public importance:

WHETHER SECTION 775.084(1)(a)1, FLORIDA STATUTES (SUPP. 1988), WHICH DEFINES HABITUAL FELONY OFFENDERS AS THOSE WHO HAVE "PREVIOUSLY BEEN CONVICTED OF TWO OR MORE FELONIES," REQUIRES THAT EACH OF THE FELONIES BE COMMITTED AFTER CONVICTION FOR THE IMMEDIATELY PREVIOUS OFFENSE?

Bennett v. State, 17 FLW D230 (Fla. 1st DCA January 14, 1992). On Motion for Certification, 17 FLW D 489, (Fla. 1st DCA, February 13, 1992).

Notice to invoke this Court's discretionary jurisdiction was timely filed on February 14, 1992, and this Court issued an order postponing decision on jurisdiction and a briefing schedule on February 19, 1992.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Due to the brevity of the argument herein, a formal summary of the argument will be omitted.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE

WHETHER SECTION 775.084(1)(a)1, FLORIDA STATUTES (SUPP. 1988), WHICH DEFINES HABITUAL FELONY OFFENDERS AS THOSE WHO HAVE "PREVIOUSLY BEEN CONVICTED OF TWO OR MORE FELONIES," REQUIRES THAT EACH OF THE FELONIES BE COMMITTED AFTER CONVICTION FOR THE IMMEDIATELY PREVIOUS OFFENSE?

The question certified in the instant case was recently answered by this Court in the negative in State v. Barnes, 17 FLW S119 (Fla. February 20, 1992) (rehearing pending), attached hereto. It is settled, therefore, that Respondent's habitual felony offender sentence based on prior felony convictions entered on the same day is a legal sentence.

CONCLUSION

Petitioner respectfully urges this Honorable Court to reverse the decision of the First District Court of Appeal below and reinstate Respondent's habitual felony offender sentence.

Respectfully submitted,

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 0714224

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL

TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I HEREBY CERTIFY that a true and correct copy of the foregoing brief has been furnished by U.S. Mail to Nancy L. Showalter, Assistant Public Defender, Leon County Courthouse, Fourth Floor, North, 301 South Monroe Street, Tallahassee, Florida 32301, this _______ day of March, 1992.

Assistant Attorney General

775.0841, Florida Statutes (Supp. 1988), the legislature intended to provide for the incarceration of repeat felony offenders for longer periods of time. However, this is accomplished by engement of the maximum sentences that can be imposed when a endant is found to be an habitual felon or an habitual violent felon. Further, when section 775.084 was amended by the passage of chapter 88-131, Laws of Florida, it authorized for the first time a minimum mandatory sentence for a repeat violent felony offender. However, as in the case of the three-year minimum mandatory sentence required for committing a felony while in possession of a gun, section 775.084 constitutes an enhancement of the felony prescribed by statute for the underlying offense.

We cannot accept the State's contention that consecutive minimum mandatories are required because of the provisions of section 775.021, Florida Statutes (Supp. 1988). In the first place, our opinion in *Palmer* rejected the contention that section 775.021(4), Florida Statutes (1981), which was worded substantially the same as section 775.021(4)(a), Florida Statutes (Supp. 1988), permitted the stacking of consecutive minimum mandatory sentences. The subsequent addition of subsection (b) to section 775.021(4)³ was designed to overrule this Court's decision in *Carawan v. State*, 515 So. 2d 161 (Fla. 1987), pertaining to consecutive sentences for separate offenses committed at the same time, and had nothing to do with minimum mandatory sentences.

We answer the certified question as reworded in the negative. We do not address the other issues raised by Daniels in his brief. We quash that portion of the decision below which authorized three consecutive fifteen-year minimum mandatory sentences for offenses which arose from the same incident and remand with directions that two of the minimum mandatory sentences be made to run concurrently with the third.

It is so ordered. (SHAW, C.J. and OVERTON, McDON-ALD, BARKETT, KOGAN and HARDING, JJ., concur.)

While Daniels was also convicted of a fourth crime, this is not relevant to our decision because he was not given a minimum mandatory sentence.

3Ch. 88-131, § 7, Laws of Fla.

ır

e

n

e

nt

ty

/e

al

 \mathbf{b}

es

а.

er

)S-

an

he

ay

ote

00-

ıсh

en-

the

of

en-

ery

by

7),

es.

be

the

ıtes

es.

оге

und

for

um

sen-

the

not

and

Criminal law—Sentencing—Habitual offender—Section 775.084(1)(a)1, Florida Statutes (Supp. 1988) does not require that prior felony convictions upon which habitual offender classification is predicated be sequential

STATE OF FLORIDA, Petitioner, v. ANTHONY T. BARNES, Respondent. Supreme Court of Florida. Case No. 77,751. February 20, 1992. Application for Review of the Decision of the District Court of Appeal - Certified Great Public Importance. First District - Case No. 89-3287 (Gadsden County). Robert A. Butterworth, Attorney General and Bradley R. Bischoff, Assistant Attorney General, Tallahassee, Florida, for Petitioner. Nancy A. Daniels, Public Defender; and Michael J. Minerva and Kathleen Stover, Assistant Public Defenders, Second Judicial Circuit, Tallahassee, Florida, for Respondent.

(OVERTON, J.) The State of Florida petitions this Court to review Barnes v. State, 576 So. 2d 758 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991), in which the First District Court of Appeal vacated Barnes' sentence as a habitual felony offender. The district court certified the following question as being of great public importance:

WHETHER SECTION 775.084(1)(a)1, FLORIDA STATUTES (SUPP. 1988), WHICH DEFINES HABITUAL FELONY OFFENDERS AS THOSE WHO HAVE "PREVIOUSLY BEEN CONVICTED OF TWO OR MORE FELONIES," REQUIRES THAT EACH OF THE FELONIES BE COMMITTED AFTER CONVICTION FOR THE IMMEDIATELY PREVIOUS OFFENSE.

Id. at 762. We answer the question in the negative and quash the decision of the district court.

The relevant facts reflect that Barnes committed two felonies in two separate incidents in September of 1987. Although they were charged separately, Barnes pleaded to both offenses on the same day and was subsequently sentenced for both offenses at one sentencing hearing.

Barnes was then found guilty of battery and grand auto theft for offenses which he committed on May 28, 1989. The State filed notice of its intent to have Barnes sentenced as a habitual felony offender based on the two previous felonies for which he was sentenced in 1987. The prosecutor sought to sentence Barnes as a habitual offender under section 775.084(1)(a)-(b), Florida Statutes (Supp. 1988), which provides:

(1) As used in this act:

- (a) "Habitual felony offender" means a defendant for whom the court may impose an extended term of imprisonment, as provided in this section, if it finds that:
- 1. The defendant has previously been convicted of two or more felonies in this state;
- 2. The felony for which the defendant is to be sentenced was committed within 5 years of the date of the conviction of the last prior felony or other qualified offense of which he was convicted, or within 5 years of the defendant's release, on parole or otherwise, from a prison sentence or other commitment imposed as a result of a prior conviction for a felony or other qualified offense, whichever is later;
- 3. The defendant has not received a pardon for any felony or other qualified offense that is necessary for the operation of this section; and
- 4. A conviction of a felony or other qualified offense necessary to the operation of this section has not been set aside in any post-conviction proceeding.

(b) "Habitual violent felony offender" means a defendant for whom the court may impose an extended term of imprisonment, as provided in this section, if it finds that:

- 1. The defendant has previously been convicted of a felony or an attempt or conspiracy to commit a felony and one or more of such convictions was for:
 - a. Arson,
 - b. Sexual battery,
 - c. Robbery,
 - d. Kidnapping,
 - e. Aggravated child abuse,
 - f. Aggravated assault,
 - g. Murder,
 - h. Manslaughter,
- i. Unlawful throwing, placing, or discharging of a destructive device or bomb, or
 - j. Armed burglary.

(Emphasis added.)

The district court reversed Barnes' sentence as a habitual felony offender, concluding that sequential convictions were still necessary for a defendant to meet the definition of a habitual felony offender under section 775.084(1)(a)1, as adopted in 1988. The sequential conviction requirement was first adopted by this Court as a necessary prerequisite for the imposition of a habitual offender sentence under our decision in Joyner v. State, 158 Fla. 806, 30 So. 2d 304 (1947). As explained in that decision, sequential conviction means that the second conviction of a defendant had to be for an offense committed after the first conviction. The pertinent portion of the statutes in effect at the time of the Joyner decision read as follows:

775.09 Punishment for second conviction of felony.—A person who, after having been convicted within this state of a felony or an attempt to commit a felony, or under the laws of any other state, government or country, of a crime which, if committed within this state would be a felony, commits any felony within this state is punishable upon conviction of such second offense as follows: If the subsequent felony is such that upon a first conviction the offender would be punishable by imprisonment for any term less than his natural life then such person must be sentenced to imprisonment for a term no less than the longest

²As an alternative, the State also contends that Daniels' crimes arose from separate incidents occurring at separate times and places. See Murray v. State, 491 So. 2d 1120 (Fla. 1986). We conclude that the court below correctly determined that these crimes arose out of a single criminal episode.

term nor more than twice the longest term prescribed upon a first conviction.

775.10 Punishment for fourth conviction of felony.—A person who, after having been three times convicted within this state of felonies or attempts to commit felonies, or under the law of any other state, government or country of crimes which, if committed within this state, would be felonious, commits a felony within this state shall be sentenced upon conviction of such fourth or subsequent offense to imprisonment in the state prison for the term of his natural life. A person to be punishable under this and the preceding section need not have been indicted and convicted as a previous offender in order to receive the increased punishment therein provided, but may be proceeded against as provided in the following section.

§§ 775.09 & 10, Fla. Stat. (1947) (emphasis added). As stated in *Joyner*:

To constitute a second or a fourth conviction within the purview of Sec. 775.09 or Sec. 775.10, supra, the information or indictment must allege and the evidence must show that the offense charged in each information subsequent to the first was committed and the conviction therefor was had after the date of the then last preceding conviction. In other words, the second conviction must be alleged and proved to have been for the crime committed after the first conviction. The third conviction must be alleged and proved to have been for a crime committed after both the first and second convictions, and the fourth conviction must be alleged and proved to have been for a crime committed after each of the preceding three convictions.

158 Fla. at 809, 30 So. 2d at 306. This holding was in accordance with then-existing legal theory that explained the justification for a habitual sentence. See R.P. Davis, Annotation, Chronological or Procedural Sequence of Former Convictions as Affecting Enhancement of Penalty for Subsequent Offense under Habitual Criminal Statutes, 24 A.L.R 2d 1247 (1952). This reasoning, in justifying the imposition of the habitual offender statute, is based on the philosophy that an individual who has been convicted of one offense and who, with knowledge of that conviction, subsequently commits another offense, has rejected his or her opportunity to reform and should be sentenced as a habitual offender.

The district court, in quashing the habitual sentence in this instance, stated that "the purpose behind Florida's habitual offender provision had been to protect society from those criminals who persisted in crime after having been given opportunities to reform. . . . [T]he sequential conviction requirement is a means of insuring that defendants have the chance to reform "Barnes, 576 So. 2d at 761.

The district court noted that "sequential convictions are not required by the plain meaning of section 775.084(1)(a)1, Florida Statutes (Supp. 1988)." Id. at 762. Irrespective of that finding, the district court determined that "because the sequential conviction requirement is necessary to carry out the purpose and

intent of the habitual offender statute, we hold that habitualization must be supported by sequential convictions in the 1988 version of the statute." *Id*.

While we agree that the underlying philosophy of a habitual offender statute may be better served by a sequential conviction requirement, we agree with the district court that the current statute is clear and unambiguous and contains no sequential conviction requirement. Under these circumstances, this Court has no authority to change the plain meaning of a statute where the legislature has unambiguously expressed its intent. Graham v. State, 472 So. 2d 464 (Fla. 1985); Jenny v. State, 447 So. 2d 1351 (Fla. 1984); Carson v. Miller, 370 So. 2d 10 (Fla. 1979); State v. Egan, 287 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 1973).

We note that this construction of the statute, in accordance with its plain meaning, may cause many more defendants to be sentenced as habitual offenders, resulting in longer prison terms, and thus may have a substantial effect on the prison population. The sequential conviction requirement provides a basic, underlying reasonable justification for the imposition of the habitual sentence, and we suggest that the legislature reexamine this area of the law to assure that the present statute carries out its intent and purpose.²

For the reasons expressed, we answer the question in the negative, quash the decision of the district court, and remand this cause with directions that the trial court's order sentencing Barnes as a habitual offender be affirmed.

It is so ordered. (SHAW, C.J. and McDONALD, GRIMES and HARDING, JJ., concur. KOGAN, J., concurs specially with an opinion, in which BARKETT, J., concurs.)

1We have jurisdiction. Art. V, § 3(b)(4), Fla. Const.

²We note that the Florida Sentencing Guidelines Commission has recommended that section 775.084, Florida Statutes, be repealed. Fla. Sentencing Guidelines Comm'n, A Proposal to Revise the Statewide Sentencing Guidelines (Jan. 1, 1992) (on file with Clerk, Fla. Sup. Ct.).

⁽KOGAN, J., specially concurring.) I concur with the rationale and result reached by the majority, but only because this particular defendant's felonies arose from two separate incidents. Were this not the case, I would not concur. I do not believe the legislature intended that a defendant be habitualized for separate crimes arising from a single incident, and I do not read the majority as so holding today. Under Florida's complex and overlapping criminal statutes, virtually any felony offense can give rise to multiple charges, depending only on the prosecutor's creativity. Thus, virtually every offense could be habitualized and enhanced accordingly. If this is what the legislature intended, it simply would have enhanced the penalties for all crimes rather than resorting to a "back-door" method of increasing prison sentences. (BAR-KETT, J., concurs.)