Chief Deputy Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

v.

CASE NO. 79,374

By-

TROY CLINTON BENNETT,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

PAULA S. SAUNDERS #308846 ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE FOURTH FLOOR NORTH 301 SOUTH MONROE STREET TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301 (904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

TABLE OF CITATIONS

CASE

State v. Barnes, 17 FLW S119 (Fla. Feb. 20, 1992) 3,4,5

- i -

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,	:	
Petitioner,	:	
ν.	:	CASE NO. 79,374
TROY CLINTON BENNETT,	:	
Respondent.	:	
	1	

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

I PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This brief is filed in reply to Petitioner's Brief on the Merits. Petitioner, the State of Florida, will be referred to herein as Petitioner. Respondent, Troy Clinton Bennett, will be referred to Respondent. Petitioner's Brief on the Merits will be referred to as "PB," followed by the appropriate page number in parentheses.

- 1 -

II STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondent accepts Petitioner's Statement of the Case and Facts with the following additional facts.

Following jury trials, Respondent was convicted in Case No. 89-1609 of sale of cocaine and in Case No. 89-1477 of possession of cocaine. He was sentenced in both cases as a habitual felony offender to 30 years in prison for the sale of cocaine and to a consecutive term of 10 years in prison for the possession charge (R 178-181, 212-215), for a total sanction of 40 years. The court imposed the habitual offender sanctions based on two prior convictions of sale of a substance in lieu of a controlled substance, which convictions were entered on September 26, 1986, and were charged in Circuit Court Case No. 86-1636 (R 124, 182-183).

- 2 -

III SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Respondent was sentenced as a habitual felony offender based on two convictions charged in the same case and entered on the same date.

Although the question certified in the instant case has been answered in this Court's decision in <u>State v. Barnes</u>, 17 FLW S119 (Fla. Feb. 20, 1992), the facts of the instant case were not presented in <u>Barnes</u> and merit further discussion. Unlike Barnes, Respondent received a habitual offender sanction based on prior felony convictions which were not only entered on the same date but which were charged in the same case and presumably arose out of the same incident. Since it is not clear that the legislature intended to habitualize a defendant for separate crimes arising from a single incident, <u>Barnes</u> is not controlling. The decision below, vacating Respondent's sentences and remanding for resentencing, should be affirmed.

- 3 -

IV ARGUMENT

WHETHER SECTION 775.084(1)(a)1, FLORIDA STATUTES (SUPP. 1988), WHICH DEFINES HABITUAL FELONY OFFENDERS AS THOSE WHO HAVE "PREVIOUSLY BEEN CONVICTED OF TWO OR MORE FELONIES," REQUIRES THAT EACH OF THE FELONIES BE COMMITTED AFTER CONVICTION FOR THE IMMEDIATELY PREVIOUS OFFENSE?

Petitioner's brief states that the question certified by the court below regarding the necessity of sequential prior convictions for habitual offender sentencing has been "settled" by this Court in its decision in <u>State v. Barnes</u>, 17 FLW Sl19 (Fla. Feb. 20, 1992) (PB 4). However, the precise facts here were not present in or specifically addressed by the majority opinion in <u>Barnes</u> and merit further consideration by the Court.

Respondent was sentenced to a total enhanced term of forty years in prison as a habitual felony offender based on his two prior felony convictions of "sale of substance in lieu of controlled substance" (R 124). These two prior convictions were not only imposed on the same date; the two counts arose from the same circuit court case number and presumably arose from a single incident (R 124, 182).

In his concurring opinion in <u>Barnes</u>, Justice Kogan agreed with the result reached by the majority only because Barnes' prior felony convictions arose from two separate incidents, but noted that a different result would be warranted if, as is the case here, the prior convictions arose from a single incident. Justice Kogan wrote:

> I do not believe the legislature intended that a defendant be habitualized for separate crimes arising from a single

> > - 4 -

incident, and I do not read the majority as so holding today. Under Florida's complex and overlapping criminal statutes, virtually any felony offense can give rise to multiple charges, depending only on the prosecutor's creativity. Thus, virtually every offense could be habitualized and enhanced accordingly. If this is what the legislature intended, it simply would have enhanced the penalties for all crimes rather than resorting to a "back-door" method of increasing prison sentences.

State v. Barnes, 17 FLW at S120 (Kogan, J., specially concurring).

Because <u>Barnes</u> addressed only prior convictions involving separate incidents, the situation raised in Justice Kogan's concurring opinion was not resolved by the majority opinion. The facts of the instant case involve a habitualization based on two convictions arising from a single incident and charged in a single indictment or information.

The holding in <u>Barnes</u> should be limited to those cases which are factually similar, i.e., those cases in which the prior convictions are for offenses which occurred in separate incidents and which were charged separately, although imposed on the same date. Since the prior offenses in the instant case were not charged separately, Barnes should not control.

This Court should, therefore, affirm the decision of the court below based on the reasoning expressed in Justice Kogan's concurring opinion. Alternatively, this Court should clarify its holding in <u>Barnes</u> to reflect whether a habitual felony offender sentence can be imposed based on prior convictions

- 5 -

which were entered on the same date <u>and</u> which involved a single incident.

V CONCLUSION

Based upon the foregoing argument, reasoning, and citation of authority, Respondent requests that this Court affirm the decision of the First District Court of Appeal vacating his sentences and remanding the cause for resentencing.

Respectfully submitted,

NANCY DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

PAULA S. SAUNDERS #308846 Assistant Public Defender Leon County Courthouse Fourth Floor North 301 South Monroe Street Tallahassee, Florida 32301 (904)488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT